University of Alberta

Enhancement of menadione cytotoxicity by bicarbonate: redox cycling and a possible role for the carbonate radical in quinone cytotoxicity

By

Naif Saad Aljuhani

A thesis presented to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research in fulfillment of the thesis requirement for the degree of Master of Science in Pharmaceutical Sciences

Faculty of Pharmacy and Pharmaceutical Sciences

©Naif Saad Aljuhani

Spring 2013

Edmonton, Alberta

"Permission is hereby granted to the University of Alberta Libraries to reproduce single copies of this thesis and to lend or sell such copies for private, scholarly or scientific research purposes only. Where the thesis is converted to, or otherwise made available in digital form, the University of Alberta will advise potential users of the thesis of these terms."

"The author reserves all other publication and other rights in association with the copyright in the thesis and, except as herein before provided, neither the thesis nor any substantial portion thereof may be printed or otherwise reproduced in any material form whatsoever without the author's prior written permission."

Abstract

We investigated the effect of bicarbonate on quinone redox cycling and cytotoxicity. A cell-free system utilized menadione and ascorbic acid to catalyze a redox cycle, and we utilized murine hepatoma (Hepa1c1c7) cells for in vitro experiments. Experiments were performed using low (2 mM) vs physiological (25 mM) bicarbonate levels in buffer equilibrated to physiological pH. We found that menadione redox cycling was enhanced by bicarbonate using oximetry and ascorbic acid oxidation. Furthermore, we treated Hepa1c1c7 cells with menadione and found that cytotoxicity and oxidative stress (dichlorofluorescin oxidation) was significantly increased with physiological bicarbonate-containing media. Interestingly, the inhibition of superoxide dismutase (SOD) showed a protective effect against menadione cytotoxicity. Using isolated BSA protein, we found a significant increase in protein carbonyls with menadione/ascorbate/SOD with physiological bicarbonate levels; low bicarbonate or SOD-omitted reactions produced less protein carbonyls. In conclusion, these findings suggest that the hydrogen peroxide generated by menadione redox cycling together with bicarbonate are substrates for SOD peroxidase activity that leads to carbonate radical which enhances cytotoxicity. These findings may represent an additional mechanism of quinone-induced toxicity.

ACKNOWLEDGMENT:

I would like to express my sincere thanks to my supervisor Dr. Arno Siraki for his supervision, guidance and valuable suggestion. Really, without his support and advise, the thesis could not have been completed.

My thanks is extended to my supervisory committee members Dr. Ayman O.S El-Kadi and Dr. Oliver Klotz for their valuable comments on my thesis.

I would like to thank Dr. Ayman O.S El-Kadi and his students for providing murine hepatoma cell line and learning a basic technique for culturing the cells.

I appreciate my lab members for creating a good environment in the lab.

I would like to express my deepest gratitude to my wife and my sons for unconditional love and support to me.

My appreciation is extended to University of Taibah and Ministry of Higher Education for their financial support.

Contents

Chapter 1 Introduction1
1.1 Quinone2
1.1.1 Quinone structure and formation2
1.1.2 Quinone sources4
1.1.2 Molecular mechanism of quinone toxicity5
1.1.2 Reduction potential of quinones7
1.2 Menadione9
1.4 Ascorbic acid14
1.5 Hydrogen peroxide, bicarbonate and carbonate radical16
1.6 Superoxide dismutase17
Chapter 2 Rationale, hypothesis and objectives20
2.1 Rationale21
2.2 Hypothesis21
2.3 Objectives23
Chapter 3 Materials and methods24

3.1 Reagents25
3.2 Oxygen Analysis25
3.3 Electron paramagnetic resonance26
3.4 Spectrophotometric assay of ascorbic acid26
3.5 Cell culture27
3.6 Menadione, bicarbonate and diethyldithiocarbamate
treatmen27
3.7 Cell viability assay28
3.8 Reactive oxygen species (ROS) determination29
3.8.1 DCFH assay29
3.8.2 Carbonyl assay29
Chapter 4 Results
4.1 Bicarbonate enhanced menadione redox cycling
4.2 Bicarbonate enhanced menadione cytotoxicity in hepa1c1c7
cell
4.3 Effect of SOD peroxidase activity on menadione cytotoxicity 43
4.4 Bicarbonate enhanced menadione-induced ROS formation-DCFH
oxidation46
4.5 Bicarbonate enhanced protein carbonylation48
Chapter 5 Discussion, Conclusion and Future studies

5.1	Discussion	.51
5.2	Conclusion	60
5.2	Future studies	62
5.3	References	.66

List of figures

Figure 1.1.1 Basic structure of quinone molecules
Figure 1.1.2 Basic scheme of a quinone Redox cycle3
Figure 1.2.1 Structure of vitamin K compounds10
Figure 1.2.2 The menadione redox cycle
Figure 2.2 Hypothetical scheme for the role bicarbonate in menadione
cytotoxicity22
Figure 4.1 Oxygen consumption during redox cycling of menadione with
ascorbic acid using different concentrations of $NaHCO_3$ 35
Figure 4.1.1 EPR spectrometry for detection of the semidehydroascorbate
radical
Figure 4.1.2KineticUV-Visspectrophotometryofascorbic
acid
Figure 4.2.1 Effect of different concentrations of menadione and
bicarbonate on murine hepatoma cells (Hepa1c1c7)
survival
Figure 4.2.2 Effect of different concentrations of bicarbonate and fixed
concentration of menadione on murine hepatoma cells (Hepa1c1c7)
survival40
Figure 4.2.3 Scheme for the effect of menadione on ATP41

Figure 4.2.4 Effect of different concentrations of bicarbonate and fixed
concentration of menadione on murine hepatoma cells (Hepa1c1c7)
survival42
Figure 4.3.1 Effect of DDC on menadione cytotoxicity44
Figure 4.3.2 Effect of TEPA on menadione cytotoxicity45
Figure 4.4 Effect of bicarbonate on menadione–induced DCFH oxidation 47
Figure 4.5 Effect of menadione, NaHCO ₃ , and SOD on protein carbonyl
formation49
Figure 5.1 Proposed mechanisms of carbonate radical formation and cytotoxicity from menadione redox cycling
Figure 5.2 Effect of acetazolamide on menadione cytotoxicity64
Figure 5.3 Schematic effect of carbonate radical formation on cell signals
during ATP depletion65

List of abbreviations

- ASC ascorbate
- ASC -- ascorbyl radical
- **ATP** adenosine triphosphate
- BSA bovine serum albumin
- **CO**₃-- carbonate radical anion
- DCFH-DA dichlorodihydrofluorescein diacetate
- **DDC** diethyldithiocarbamate
- DHA dehydroascorbic acid
- **DMEM** Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium
- DMPO 5,5-dimethyl-1-pyrroline-N-oxide
- **DPBS** Dulbecco's phosphate-buffered saline
- DTPA diethylene triamine pentaacetic acid
- **EBSS** Earle's Balanced Saline Solution
- **EPR** electron paramagnetic resonance
- **Glut** glucose transporters
- **GSH** glutathione
- **GSSG** glutathione dimer (oxidized)
- HCO_3^- bicarbonate
- HCO₄- peroxymonocarbonate
- HEPES 4-(2-hydroxyethyl)-1-piperazineethanesulfonic acid)
- **HO** hydroxyl radical
- HO₂• hydroperoxyl radical

- H_2O_2 hydrogen peroxide
- mV millivolts
- **NQO** NAD(P)H:Quinone oxidoreductase
- $-NH_2$ amine
- 0₂ oxygen
- **0**² superoxide anion radical
- $^{1}O_{2}$ singlet oxygen
- pH_e extracellular pH
- $\boldsymbol{p}\boldsymbol{H}_i \,\, \text{intracellular} \,\, \boldsymbol{p}\boldsymbol{H}$
- **Q** quinones
- QH₂ hydroquinone
- **ROS** reactive oxygen species
- -SH nucleophilic thiol
- **SODs** superoxide dismutases
- **SOD1** copper,zinc- superoxide dismutase
- **SOD2** manganese- superoxide dismutase
- **SOD3** an extracellular- superoxide dismutase
- **SQ** semiquinone radical
- TEPA tetraethylenepentaamine
- UV-Vis ultraviolet-visible
- V volts

Chapter 1 Introduction

1.1 Quinone

1.1.1 Quinone structure and formation

Quinones are a general term for aromatic compounds that have a fully conjugated cyclic dione structure. The basic structure of quinone are depicted in Figure 1.1.1.



Fig 1.1.1 Basic structure of quinone molecules. Quinones exist as a) *para-*(1,4)-benzoquinones, or b) *ortho-*(1,2)-benzoquinones.

It has been reported that quinones are mainly produced via oxidation of aromatic compounds such as phenols, catechols and hydroquinone by monooxygenase or peroxidase, metal ions and molecular oxygen (discussed further in 1.1.3) [1]. The ability of quinones to accept and of their reduced forms to donate electrons is considered as a common feature in this family of compounds. Enzymatically and non-enzymatically, quinones can accept oneelectron to form semiquinone radicals that subsequently reduces oxygen molecules to generate superoxide anion radicals. Consequently, forming the latter radical leads to formation of hydrogen peroxide (discussed further in 1.1.3 and 1.1.4) [1]



Fig 1.1.2 Basic scheme of a quinone redox cycle. A quinone molecule can accept an electron from a reductant producing a typically unstable semiquinone radical. That latter can undergo further reduction to form a relatively stable hydroquinone, or reduce oxygen to produce superoxide anion radical ($O_2^{\bullet-}$) which can lead to reactive oxygen species (ROS).

1.1.2 Quinone sources

There are different sources for quinones that could be environmental and endogenous sources. Quinones occur as environmental pollutants. For example, benzene, which is used as an industrial solvent as well as a constituent of gasoline and cigarette smoke, is metabolized to pbenzoquinone that causes its toxicity (aplastic anemia, acute myelogenous leukemia) via forming a DNA adduct [2]. Tetrachloro-para-benzoquinone (chloranil) is a metabolized product of pentachlorophenol, a fungicidal wood preservative, which inflicts its toxicity through forming 8'-hydroxydeoxyguanosine, an oxidation product of DNA [2]. It has been reported that naturally occurring naphthoquinones, including juglone (5-hydroxy-1,4naphthoquinone) and plumbagin (5-hydroxy-2-methyl-1,4-naphthoquinone) enhanced lipid peroxidation likely due to the presence of hydroxyl groups in the benzene moiety. Although these compounds exhibit their toxicological effects through their ability to undergo redox cycling and covalent binding to DNA and protein, some naphthoquinones such as lawsone (2-hydroxy-1,4naphthoquinone) and lapachol (2-hydroxy-3-(3-methylbut-2-enyl)-1,4naphthoquinone) did not stimulate lipid peroxidation, and would not form adducts with DNA [3].

The endogenous sources of quinones have mainly been shown to be formed from autoxidation of catecholamines (dopamine, noradrenaline, and adrenaline), which are neurotransmitters in the central nervous system, adrenal medulla ,and the sympathetic nervous system. Oxidation of these catecholamines neurotransmitters results in aminochrome formation, which are cyclized catecholamine derivatives. The ability of aminochrome derivatives to undergo the redox cycling leads to oxidative stress, which was shown to be repressed in the presence of nicotine [4]. Furthermore, there are two major pathways for metabolism of estrogen that can lead to quinone formation. The hydroxylation of estrogen forms 2-and 4-catechol estrogens (CE) and another pathway is at the16 α -position. Further oxidation of catechol estrogens leads to form semiquinone and quinone molecules. In the presence of these structures with molecular oxygen and cytochrome P-450 reductase, the redox cycling could be completed and consequently, ROS could be formed [5,6].

1.1.3 Molecular mechanism of quinone toxicity

The molecular mechanisms of quinone cytotoxicity are comprised of two main components: a) covalent binding to macromolecules (protein, DNA) via Michael addition, and b) formation of ROS through redox cycling, resulting in oxidative stress that can oxidize lipid, protein and DNA. Alkylation by quinones (Q) via Michael 1,4-addition can be prevented by glutathione (GSH), which is present in millimolar amounts in the cell:

$$Q + GSH \longrightarrow QH_2 - GSH$$
(1)

The nucleophilic thiol (-SH) moiety (Eq. 1) of GSH resembles protein cysteine; thus, GSH conjugation prevents the alkylation of other protein or DNA nuclophiles (e.g., amine ($-NH_2$) groups of protein lysine, or guanine bases). Certain quinones, such as menadione, however, can oxidize

glutathione to thiyl radicals that dimerize to form oxidized glutathione dimers (GSSG):

$$Q + GSH \longrightarrow QH^{\bullet} + GS^{\bullet}$$
⁽²⁾

$$GS^{\bullet} + GS^{-} \longrightarrow GSSG^{\bullet-} \xrightarrow{O_2} GSSG + O_2^{\bullet-}$$
(3)

It should be noted that quinones that bind GSH can still become reoxidized and consume more GSH or participate in redox cycling reactions. A basic redox cycling reaction is shown in equations 4 and 5:

$$Q \xrightarrow{Ie^{-}, H^{+}} Q H^{\bullet} \text{ (semiquinone)}$$
(4)

$$QH^{\bullet} + O_2 \xrightarrow{-H^+} Q + O_2^{\bullet-}$$
(5)

It should be pointed out that $O_2^{\bullet-}$ (superoxide) formation can be regarded as a first step in the induction of "oxidative stress." As mentioned above, ROS may oxidize important cellular molecules. Although $O_2^{\bullet-}$ may be harmful itself, it is through its conversion to more reactive ROS that it can also induce oxidative stress. ROS are generally comprised of three main oxygen containing compounds (in order of increasing reactivity): hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2) , superoxide anion radical or hydroperoxyl radical $(O_2^{\bullet-}, HO_2^{\bullet},$ respectively), and hydroxyl radical (HO[•]). These species can oxidize protein, cleave the protein backbone, and cause DNA strand breaks. A biomarker for HO[•] reacting with DNA is 8-deoxyguanosine modification, which can be readily analyzed. The $O_2^{\bullet-}$ is detoxified by superoxide dismutase, which results in the formation of H₂O₂ (discussed in section 1.5). This reaction also occurs non-enzymatically, or can also be carried out by an antioxidant such as quercetin, found in onions [7].

The source for the 1e⁻ shown in eq. 4 can be ascorbate or ascorbic acid (Vitamin C), GSH, or enzymatic. Such enzymes that can carry out this one electron reduction include Complex I or NADH:ubiquinone reductase and NADPH cytochrome P-450 reductase [8,9]. However, a generally protective two electron reductase, NAD(P)H:Quinone oxidoreductase (NQO), can form the complementary hydroquinone (QH₂) metabolite of the benzoquinone (Eq. 6) that can be subsequently conjugated (to glucuronic acid and/or sulfate) and eliminated:

$$Q + NAD(P)H + H^{+} \xrightarrow{NQO} QH_{2} + NAD(P)^{+}$$
(6)

 $QH_2 + UDP$ -Glucuronic acid (UDPGA) $\rightarrow QH_2$ -glucuronic acid + UDP

Although two-electron reduction of hydroquinones has been reported to be the bioactivation step for reductively activated quinone drugs, it is primarily a protective enzyme [10].

1.1.4 Reduction potential of quinones

The capability to accept electrons from a donor can be assessed by the half-cell reduction potential, which is expressed in volts (V) or millivolts (mV) relative to the donors. The reduction of a quinone occurs in two oneelectron steps and each step has a distinct reduction potential. There are various factors that have a significant influence on the reduction potentials of quinone/semiquinone/hydroquinone triad. The redox potential of quinone moieties is decreased by the presence of aromatic rings. Thus, the reduction

potential of anthraquinone moiety is lower than benzo- and naphthaquinone moieties. Also, the different substituents on the quinone rings have a significant effect on the redox potential. For example, a substituent of electron-donating groups would result in lowering the redox potential of quinone moieties (e.g CH₃, OH, NH₂). On the other hand, the redox potential of quinones would increase by the presence of electron-withdrawing groups (e.g SO_3 , Cl, Br). When guinones accept an electron from a donor and transfer it to another compound, the second process cannot be carried out unless the redox potential of quinones is lower than the target compound [11]. Generally, the reduction potential must be high enough to allow the reduction of quinone by cellular reductase but not so high that it reduces the transfer of electron to molecular oxygen. It has been shown that quinones that have redox potential between -250 and +50 mV are able to undergo redox cycling and consequently generate the ROS through oxidizing ascorbate. For example, the reduction potentials of 1,4-benzoquinone and duroquinone to form benzosemiquinone and durosemiquinones are +99 and -240 mV, respectively. Thus, the reduction of 1,4-benzoquinones by accepting one electron is easier than for duroquinones. However, transferring the electrons from benzosemiquinone to oxygen molecule is more difficult than for durosemiquinone [6,12,13].

1.2 Menadione (vitamin K3)

The most abundant forms of vitamins K are phylloquinones (vitamin K1), menaquinones (vitamin K2) and menadione (vitamin K3) as shown in figure 1.2.1. For instance, phylloquinones (vitamin K1), which have 3-phytyl substituent at the 3 position, are synthesized by plants and considered as a major source for vitamin K. Menaquinones (vitamin K2), which contain polyunsaturated isoprene units, are produced by bacteria, for example, bacteroides fragilis strains that are in the colonic flora of humans. The other form of vitamin K is 2-methyl-1,4-naphthoquinone (vitamin K3), which lacks substitution at position 3, is synthesized by selective oxidation of 2methylnaphthalene. Although K vitamins play an essential role in a number of life's key biochemical processes, including blood coagulation, and bone metabolism and cell growth, reduced K vitamins may trigger oxidative stress in colonic epithelial cells [14-17]. This suggests that the naphthoquinone core in vitamin K1, K2 and K3 is critical key for generating ROS and oxidative stress.



Fig. 1.2 Structure of vitamin K compounds that are naturally occurring (a) and (b); and synthetically occurring (c).

Naphthoquinones derived from naphthalene are widely distributed in plants and can be used as chemotherapeutic drugs, antibacterial agents, antimalarials and fungicides. Compounds containing naphthoquinone such as juglone (5-hydroxy-1,4-naphthoquinone), plumbagain (5-hydroxy-2-methyl-1,4-naphthoquinone), lawsone (2-hydroxy-1,4-naphthoquinone) and menadione, a synthetic quinone, exert their pharmacological and toxicological effects through their ability to undergo enzymatic redox cycling to damage macromolecules, such as DNA, lipids and proteins. The structure of naphthoquinone compounds plays a critical role in their cytotoxicity. For example, juglone (5-hydroxy-1,4-naphthoquinone) is more toxic to hepatocytes than lawsone (2-hydroxy-1,4-naphthoquinone) because of inducing electron-attracting/electron-donating group. In juglone, the presence of the hydroxyl group on the benzene ring resulted in an increase of the reduction potential; however, the presence of a hydroxyl group on the quinone moiety led to a decreased reduction potential for lawsone. [7]

It has been reported that menadione readily diffuses in different cell types such as HepG2 cells, MCF-7 cells, and yeast without the assistance of transport proteins and pumps as it has an amphiphilic character; that is, menadione is both hydrophilic and hydrophobic to be soluble in water and plasma membrane. Menadione, 2-methyl-1,4-naphthoquinone, an artificial, synthetic, and water soluble naphthoquinone, has been shown to induce cell death by either apoptosis or autoschizis/ necrosis in a concentration-and time-dependent manner. For instance, a loss in cellular thiols, extensive production of reactive oxygen species, such as $O_2^{\bullet-}$ and H_2O_2 , DNA damage, the disturbance of intracellular calcium ion homeostasis, ATP depletion and cell death induced by a concerted mechanism of menadione on isolated rat hepatocytes [18-20].

Menadione is a well-studied quinone that is known for its ability to generate free radicals and hydrogen peroxide through redox cycling reactions and alkylation of macromolecules [21-23]. It has been reported that the redox potential of menadione is -203 mV. This indicates that menadione is able to undergo the redox cycling and consequently generate reactive oxygen species through oxidizing ascorbate. Menadione is reduced by ascorbate to form semidehydroascorbate and the menadione semiguinone free radical. Enzymatically, the semiguinone radicals are generated in vivo by one-electron reduction of menadione through presence of flavin-protein enzymes, such as, microsomal NADPH cytochrome p-450 reductase, microsomal NADH b_5 reductase, and NADH dehydrogenase. Consequently, generation of semiguinone radicals results in formation of ROS and quinone via their reactions with molecular oxygen [24]. However, menadione is also able to undergo two-electron reduction by NADPH: quinone oxidoreductase. The latter reduction would result in formation of a hydroquinone rather than production of semiquinone radicals. The futile redox cycling of menadione is depicted in Figure 1.2.2.



NADPH: quinone oxidoreductase

Figure 1.2.2 The menadione redox cycle enzymatically and nonenzymatically, generates H_2O_2 .

In addition, there is another chemical character for quinones, which is their ability to undergo a 1,4-Michael addition or arylation to form adducts with sulfhydryl and primary amines as it consists of a naphthoquinone moiety with a double bond α to a ketone group [1]. It has been reported that menadione induce loss of cellular thiols through its ability to conjugate with glutathione that consequently forms oxidized glutathione dimers (GSSG). The interaction of menadione with GSH resulted in the generation of superoxide anion radicals, which are dismutated rapidly in the presence of SOD to form H₂O₂ and O₂ [20].

Because of menadione activity, it has been used as a model toxicant in various studies, including apoptotic pathways in mammalian cells [25], yeast and bacterial macromolecules damage [26-28] and has been evaluated as a potential chemotherapeutic agent in conjunction with other compunds (mitomycin, ascorbic acid) [29,30].

1.3 Ascorbic acid

In most mammalian cells, the intracellular concentrations of ascorbic acid, or vitamin C, are much higher than in plasma concentration, which is variable depending on the dose and route of ascorbic acid administration. This concentration gradient results from the uptake of dehydroascorbic acid (DHA), the two-electron oxidized form of ascorbate. Once DHA is transported via Glut 1 glucose transporters inside the cell, it reduced to ascorbate by GSH, 3 alpha-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase, and thioredoxin reductase. Thus, the concentration of ascorbate would increase as it is a poor substrate for the Glut 1 glucose transporter, it could leave cells only by diffusion. Inside the cell, free radicals that are generated from mitochondrial metabolism or proteins that contain iron such as hemoglobin which could oxidize ascorbate by one-electron to form ascorbyl free radicals. Dismutation of these radicals or oxidation of ascorbate by two-electrons lead to form DHA that will be lost from the cell via the Glut 1 glucose transporter or will be converted to 2,3-diketo-1-gulonic acid [31].

It has been reported that ascorbate, at pharmacologic concentrations (0.3-20 mM), killed some cancer cell types. The mechanistic killing of these cells was shown to be dependent on H_2O_2 formation and independent of metal chelators. It has been shown that there is a linear relationship between ascorbate concentration and generation of H_2O_2 . It was proposed that pharmacologic ascorbate concentration in extracellular fluid generates ascorbyl radical and releasing electron would reduce a protein-centered metal that consequently resulted in formation of $O_2^{\bullet-}$, which dismutated to H_2O_2 . Thus, pharmacologic ascorbate concentration results in cell death through generation of H_2O_2 that easily diffuses into the cells [32].

Ascorbic acid (vitamin C) is a particularly synergistic molecule that significantly catalyzes the redox cycling process and likely plays a role in anticancer activity. For instance, ascorbate and menadione, when used in combination, exhibit a synergistic cytotoxic effect on murine hepatoma cell lines. Because Glut 1 transporters are overexpressed in cancer cells, the concentration of ascorbate is very high within these cells. The ability of ascorbate to donate an electron to menadione results in formation of semidehydroascorbyl and semiquionone radicals, and lead to redox cycling. It has been shown that the activity of catalase and glutathione peroxidase in hepatomas are not expressed highly enough to detoxify H_2O_2 . Thus, presence of H_2O_2 generates oxidative stress, which is lethal for cancer cells [33-35].

1.4 Hydrogen peroxide, bicarbonate and carbonate radical

It is believed that H_2O_2 is an important product of the redox cycle that can mediate a portion of the anti-cancer activity. H_2O_2 is known to modulate caspase activity directly, but is also involved in the generation of the highly reactive hydroxyl radical (HO•), which can oxidize macromolecules at a diffusion limited rate [36,37]. H_2O_2 is produced through the dismutation of two molecules of superoxide anion radical, a process that is rapidly catalyzed by superoxide dismutase (SOD) (discussed further in 1.5)[38].

In cooperation with carbonic acid anhydrase, bicarbonate (HCO_3^-) that is present at 25 mM in biological fluids plays a major role in regulation of pH in vivo [39]. It has been reported that oral bicarbonate therapy plays an essential role in reducing the metastases in experimental models of breast and prostate cancers. Its effect mainly appears on enhancing the pH_e that consequently reduced the release of lysosomal proteases. However, this effectiveness will be reduced with larger tumors [88]. The role of HCO_3^- as a mediator of oxidative stress can be traced back to studies carried out using superoxide dismutase (SOD). The first prooxidant incidence of HCO_3^- was the finding that the presence of HCO_3^- in buffer enhanced the oxidation of luminol [40]. A prominent role for HCO_3^- has been suggested to involve the peroxidase activity of SOD, where H_2O_2 is oxidized in the active site of the enzyme, forming a transient Cu^{2+} - HO[•] species, which then oxidizes HCO_3^- to the carbonate radical anion ($CO_3^{•-}$) [41,42].

Furthermore, the CO₃ - has been detected with electron spin resonance after trapping with DMPO (5,5-dimethyl-1-pyrroline-N-oxide, a spin trap agent) [43]. The spin adduct usually detected is actually DMPO-OH which is due to the breakdown of the unstable DMPO-OCO₂ adduct, or possibly via DMPO oxidation to a radical cation that reacts with hydroxyl from solution [44,45]. Evidence also suggests that the CO₃ - can diffuse to oxidize distal targets [46] and has been suggested to be involved in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis, where a gain of function mutation in SOD may enhance the peroxidase activity producing more oxidative stress [42-47]. The CO₃ - has a high one-electron oxidation potential E^{o'}(CO₃ -, H⁺/HCO₃ - = 1.78 V), which is relatively close to the hydroxyl radical E^{o'} (HO +, H⁺/H2O = 2.3 V) [48,49]. Similar to the HO +, the CO₃ - can oxidize many different targets, including amino acid residues such as protein tryptophan and tyrosine, histidine [50], and causes protein aggregation [51-53].

1.5 Superoxide dismutase

In mammalian cells, there are three major families of superoxide dismutases (SODs) that include a cytoplasmic copper,zinc-enzyme (CuZn-

SOD or SOD1), a manganese containing mitochondrial enzyme (MnSOD or SOD2), and an extracellular form of CuZnSOD (SOD3). CuZn-SOD and Mn-SOD are considered as a first-line defence against superoxide radicals that are produced during normal intracellular metabolism. The main function of SODs is that it dismutases superoxide anion radicals, to form O_2 and H_2O_2 .

$$O_2 + O_2 - 2H^+ + H_2O_2 + O_2$$
 (1)

It has been reported that cell killing, increased lipid peroxidation, and hemolysis are associated with elevation of intracellular SOD activity [54]. Although there are different toxicity mechanisms of H_2O_2 , most notably the Fenton reaction which leads to hydroxyl radical (HO•) catalyzed by the presence of trace metals, a potential mechanism of H_2O_2 biotoxification could be through a backreaction of SOD known as SOD peroxidase activity that was first noted in 1975 [55]. The back reaction between CuZn-SOD and its own product H_2O_2 resulted in inactivation and fragmentation of the enzyme and production of OH, a highly reactive oxidant. It has been reported that the reaction between H_2O_2 and CuZn-SOD could generate a strong bound oxidant, SOD-Cu(II)-OH that reacts with bicarbonate to form carbonate anion radical (CO_3 ··) as in reaction 4, a diffusible oxidant that was detected using spin trapping methods [41,42,55].

In reaction 2 and 3, excess H_2O_2 , a product of the dismutation in reaction 1, results in a rapid reduction of Cu (II) in the Cu,Zn SOD that consequently

leads to formation of a strong bound oxidant. The latter product reacts with bicarbonate anion to generate $CO_3^{\bullet-}$ (reaction 4).

SOD- Cu(II) + H₂O₂
$$\longrightarrow$$
 SOD- Cu(I) + O_2^- + 2H⁺ (2)

SOD-
$$Cu(I) + H_2O_2 \longrightarrow SOD- Cu(II)-OH + OH$$
 (3)

The reaction of bicarbonate with the strong bound oxidant form of SOD was not realized until 1999 [41] (reaction 4).

SOD-
$$Cu(II)$$
-OH + HCO₃ \longrightarrow SOD- $Cu(II)$ + CO_3 + H₂O (4)

The presence of bicarbonate or carbon dioxide with hydrogen peroxide would lead to the formation of peroxymonocarbonate [56] (reaction 5).

$$H_2O_2 + HCO_3 \longrightarrow HOOCO_2$$
 (5)

Furthermore, the reaction mechanism has evolved to suggest that H_2O_2 is not involved, per se, but rather a combination of H_2O_2 with HCO_3^- , which leads to peroxymonocarbonate is kinetically a more favourable reactant for SOD peroxidase activity [56]. However, there has been some controversy over the particular reactants, which lead to the $CO_3^{\bullet-}$ [57] (reactions 4 and 6).

SOD-
$$Cu(I) + HOOCO_2 + H^+ \longrightarrow SOD- Cu(II) + CO_3^- + H_2O$$
 (6)

Chapter 2 Rationale, Hypothesis and Objectives

2.1 Rationale

There are many different roles for quinone molecules from a biochemical, industrial, pharmaceutical and environmental standpoint. This study is focused on specific mechanisms by which quinones may mediate damage to biological tissues. The toxicity of quinones is initiated from two basic initiating steps: redox cycling (oxygen activation, leading to H_2O_2 formation) and/or essential macromolecule alkylation. The end result of these processes is usually either cellular death or DNA damage potentially leading to carcinogenesis. As many authors have discussed this subject previously, the novelty in this study lies in the specifics of the mechanisms that are involved. The carbonate radical ($CO_3^{\bullet-}$) was found to be produced from SOD through a backreaction that involved H_2O_2 . We have described above that redox cycling of menadione produces oxidative stress through formation of H_2O_2 . If H_2O_2 produced from menadione is oxidized by SOD peroxidase activity, CO₃.formation is possible. This mechanism could represent an additional mechanism of quinone toxicity in general.

2.2 Hypothesis

We hypothesize that the cytotoxicity of menadione, 2-methyl-1,4naphthoquinone, is enhanced by the presence of bicarbonate/ carbon dioxide, a biological buffer, either enzymatically or non-enzymatically (according to figure 2.2).



Figure 2.2 hypothetical scheme for the role bicarbonate in menadione cytotoxicity.

2.3 Objectives

To understand the interplay between quinones and bicarbonate, we used menadione as a representative of quinone-containing drugs as its ability to undergo futile redox cycle as well as alkylation macromolecules. Our objectives are:

- Determining the effect of bicarbonate on menadione redox cycling, enzymatically and non-enzymatically.
- Detect the effect of bicarbonate on ROS generated during menadione redox cycling.
- To determine the effect of SOD inhibition on menadione cytotoxicity.

Chapter 3 Materials and Methods

Materials and Methods

3.1 Reagents

Menadione, ascorbic acid, Dulbecco's phosphate-buffered saline (DPBS), sodium phosphate monobasic, sodium phosphate dibasic, sodium hydroxide, potassium chloride, magnesium sulphate, D-glucose, hydrogen peroxide, diethyldithiocarbamate (DDC), NaHCO₃, acetazolamide, bovine serum albumin (BSA). diethvlene triamine (DTPA), pentaacetic acid tetraethylenepentaamine (TEPA), chloride 2',7'ferric and Dichlorodihydrofluorescein diacetate (DCFH-DA) were purchased from Sigma Aldrich (Oakville, ON). AlamarBlue reagent, (4-(2-hydroxyethyl)-1piperazineethanesulfonic acid) HEPES, Trypsin and CellTiter-Glo^R were purchased from Fisher Scientific Company (Ottawa, ON). The Oxyblot protein oxidation kit was purchased from EMD (Billerica, MA). Earle's Balanced Saline Solution (EBSS) was prepared by addition of different concentration of NaHCO₃ to 1.8 mM CaCl₂, 5.4 mM KCl, 0.8 mM MgSO₄, 138 mM NaCl, 1.0 mM Na₂HPO₄, 5.5 mM D-glucose and 20 mM HEPES [58]. The pH measurements were recorded on a pH meter electrode Accumet^R (Fisher scientific).

3.2 Oxygen Analysis

Oxygen consumption was measured by utilizing a Free Radical Analyzer (Model TBR 4100) connected to an oxygen sensor and interfaced to a desktop PC for data acquisition (World Precision Instruments, Sarasota, FL, USA). 1 mM Ascorbic acid was used to initiate the redox cycling of 50μ M menadione. After exporting the data to MS Excel, initial rates of oxygen consumption were calculated by taking initial slope after the addition of ascorbate (from 77-140 s). The number of moles of O₂ present in 1ml was calculated by utilizing ideal gas law (PV=nRT) and consequently the concentration of O₂ was calculated according to World Precision Instruments TBR4100/1025 page 37. All the reactions were carried out EBSS buffers that contained different concentrations of bicarbonate and 20 mM HEPES, pH 7.4, at room temperature.

3.3 Electron paramagnetic resonance for the detection of the semidehydroascorbyl radical

EPR experiments were performed on a Bruker Elexys E-500 spectrometer. After measuring the pH, 200 μ l of the reaction was transferred to a flat cell and the scan was started immediately. The semidehydroascorbyl radical was detected directly in the presence of 50 μ M menadione and 1 mM ascorbic acid. All reactions were performed in EBSS buffer containing 20 mM HEPES and different concentration of bicarbonate pH 7.4 at room temperature.

3.4 Spectrophotometric assay of ascorbic acid

All UV-Vis absorption spectra were acquired on a Spectra Max M5 Multi-Mode Microplate Reader. Absorbance of ascorbic acid and kinetic spectra of its degradation were performed by utilizing 1 cm path length quartz cuvette.
The optical density of ascorbic acid was monitored at 260 nm and kinetic scans were recorded for 15 min. All reactions were initiated by the addition of 300 μ M H₂O₂ in EBSS containing 15 μ M ascorbic acid and different concentrations of NaHCO₃ in the presence and absence of 100 μ M diethylenetriaminepentaacetic acid (DTPA) pH 7.4 at room temperature.

3.5 Cell culture

Cells of murine Hepatoma cell line (Hepa 1c1c7) were kindly provided by ATCC. Cells were cultured in Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium (DMEM; Invitrogen), supplemented with 10 % fetal bovine serum Hyclone^R (Thermo scientific) and 100 units/ml antibiotic antimycotic (10000 u penicillin, 10000 ug streptomycin and 25 ug fungizone) Gibco^R (Invitrogen) at a density of 5 X10⁵ cells/ml and incubated at 37 °C in a humidified atmosphere with 5 % CO₂ for 48 hours. The medium was replaced with a fresh one and the cells were seeded in 96-well plates at 37 °C in a humidified atmosphere with 5 % CO₂ for another 24 hours, prior to the experiment.

3.6 Menadione, bicarbonate and diethyldithiocarbamate treatment

Twenty-four hours after seeding murine hepatoma (Hepa 1c1c7) cells in clear bottom 96 well plates and after washing the cells with Dulbecco's phosphate buffered saline (DPBS), the culture medium was replaced with EBSS buffers. One buffer contained different concentrations of menadione (1, 3, 10, 30, 100 μ M) and 25 mM bicarbonate; another buffer contained different concentrations of bicarbonate (1, 2, 5, 12.5 and 25 mM) and 30 µM menadione. Both EBSS buffers contained 20 mM HEPES, pH 7.4. Hepa1c1c7 cells were incubated at 37 °C in a humidified atmosphere with 5 % CO_2 for three hours. Cells treated with 0.04 % dimethyl sulfoxide (vehicle) in EBSS buffer containing 25 mM bicarbonate and in EBSS buffers containing different concentration of bicarbonate (1, 2, 5, 12.5 and 25 mM) were used for controls. For diethyldithiocarbamate (DDC) treatment, twenty-four hours after seeding murine hepatoma (Hepa 1c1c7) cells in 96 well clear bottom plates, the cells were incubated with different concentrations of DDC (1, 10, and 100 μ M) in DMEM free of FBS at 37 °C in a humidified atmosphere with 5 % CO₂ for 60 min. The cells were washed twice by DPBS and incubated in EBSS buffer containing 25 mM bicarbonate and 30 μ M menadione at 37 °C in a humidified atmosphere with 5 % CO₂ for three hours. The cells treated with in the presence of 0.04% DMSO were included as controls.

3.7 cell viability assay

Cytotoxicity of menadione was determined by colorimetric assay based on the alamarBlue^R assay where viable cells catalyzed the reduction of resazurin, a non-fluorescent indicator dye, to resorufin, a highly red fluorescent compound. After treatment of murine hepatoma Hepa 1c1c7 cells with test compounds (menadione, bicarbonate, and DDC) and after washing with DPBS, the cells were incubated with 100 μ l of AlamarBlue solution (diluted 1:10 with DPBS), at 37 °C in a humidified atmosphere with 5 % CO₂ for six hours. Fluorescence intensity was measured by exposure of plates to an excitation wavelength at 570 nm and an emission wavelength 590 nm. All measurements were performed by utilizing Spectra Max M5 Multi-Mode Microplate Reader at room temperature. Cytotoxicity was alternatively measured by a luminescent assay CellTiter Glo^R (Promega, Corp., Madison, WI) a luminescence based on quantitation of the ATP content present in the cells.

3.8 Reactive oxygen species (ROS) determination

3.8.1 DCFH assay:

Twenty-four hours after seeding murine hepatoma (Hepa 1c1c7) cells in 96 well clear bottom plates, medium was replaced by EBSS buffers containing different concentrations of menadione (20, 40 and 80 μ M) and different concentrations of bicarbonate (2, 25 mM). 10 μ M DCFH was added to the cells and incubated for 30 min. DCF fluorescence was measured by SpectraMax M5 Multimode Microplate reader at an excitation wavelength 485 nm and an emission wavelength of 520 nm. The relative fluorescence was used as a non-specific measure of relative oxidative stress induced by the treatments.

3.8.2 Carbonyl assay:

According to the manufacturer's protocol, detection of carbonyl groups was performed by utilizing Oxyblot oxidized protein detection kit. Before SDS-PAGE separation, 2,4-dinitrophenylhydrazine was incubated with samples containing 5 μ g BSA, 16 μ M SOD, 5 μ M menadione, 1 mM ascorbic acid, and 2 mM or 25 mM sodium bicarbonate for 15 min at room temperature. After SDS PAGE and transfer onto nitrocellulose membrane the blots were treated with anti-dinitrophenylhydrazone antibodies, followed by secondary antibodies to reveal carbonyl-containing BSA. Blots were developed with chemiluminescence HRP substrate.

Statistical analysis

The results were expressed as the mean ± SD, and statistical differences were evaluated by t-test and one-way ANOVA followed by student-Newman-Keuls for pairwise comparisons.

Chapter 4 Results

Results

4.1 Bicarbonate enhanced menadione redox cycling.

Non–enzymatically, O₂ and ascorbic acid could elicit the effect of bicarbonate on menadione redox cycling. To test our hypothesis, we monitored O₂ consumption and ASC^{•–} intensity and ASC oxidation by utilizing oxygen electrode, EPR and UV-Vis spectrometry.

O₂ analysis

The effect of bicarbonate (2 and 25 mM) on the initial rate of O_2 consumption is shown in Figure 4.1. In EBSS buffer containing 2 and 25 mM bicarbonate, we showed that menadione (50 µM) was reduced by ascorbic acid (1 mM) to generate semiquinone radical (SQ•) and semidehydroascorbyl radical (ASC•). SQ• can then be oxidized back to the parent menadione subsequently generating O_2 •. Thus, this process is known as redox cycling and is not dependent on bicarbonate [75,76]. Simultaneously, dismutation of O_2 • either in the presence or absence of SOD resulted in H₂O₂ formation. Interestingly, with H₂O₂, we found that there was significant increase in the initial rate of O_2 uptake with 25 mM bicarbonate as compared with 2 mM bicarbonate.

Semidehydroascorbyl radical monitoring

To further elaborate the effect of bicarbonate on menadione/ ascorbate redox cycle, we performed EPR experiment to monitor the signal intensity of semidehydroasorbyl radical. Figure 4.1.1 shows the effect of bicarbonate (2 and 25 mM) on the signals of semidehydroascorbyl radical, the first oxidation product of ascorbic acid oxidation. We detected the characteristic (at g=2) doublet signals by addition of ascorbic acid (1 mM) and menadione $(50 \mu \text{M})$ to EBSS buffer containing 2 and 25 mM bicarbonate. Interestingly, the intensity of EPR signals, corresponding to an increase in semidehydroascorbyl radical was increased by 25 mM bicarbonate compared to 2 mM bicarbonate..

Ascorbic acid oxidation

 $O_2^{\bullet-}$, HO•, SQ[•]-and possibly $CO_3^{\bullet-}$ radicals that resulted from menadione/ascorbate redox cycle, reacted with ascorbate to generate semidehydroascorbyl radical. To further evaluate the effect of bicarbonate on ascorbic acid oxidation and to confirm our finding in EPR experiment, we utilized UV-Vis spectrophotometry to monitor the oxidation of ascorbate by HO• and CO_3^{\bullet} . (i.e. without menadione). Figure 4.1.2 shows absorbance kinetic scans spectra of ascorbic acid. Using EBSS buffer containing different

concentrations of bicarbonate (0,2 and 25 mM), reactions were initiated by addition of H_2O_2 (300 μ M), to exclude the effect of radicals that initiated from menadione/ascorbate redox cycle, (300 μ M) to ascorbic acid (15 μ M). Although there was oxidation of ascorbic acid in the absence of bicarbonate, it was increased by two folds with the presence of 25 mM bicarbonate as compared with absence of bicarbonate or presence of 2 mM bicarbonate. However, the oxidation of ascorbic acid that increased with 25 mM bicarbonate was abolished with addition of DTPA (100 μ M). Thus, the reaction H_2O_2 with EBSS buffer metal ions resulted in formation of HO• that subsequently reacted with bicarbonate to generate CO_3 •, a strong oxidizing agent. The latter radical and HO• appear to both be responsible for ascorbic acid oxidation.



Figure 4.1 Oxygen consumption during redox cycling of menadione with ascorbic acid using different concentrations of NaHCO₃ in EBSS buffer. Data were shown as the mean \pm SD (n=3). * p < 0.05 for 30 μ M menadione + 1 mM ascorbate + 25 mM NaHCO₃ vs. 30 μ M menadione + 1 mM ascorbate + 2 mM NaHCO₃.



Figure <u>4.1.1</u> EPR spectrometry for detection of the semidehydroascorbate radical. EPR spectrometry was used to record the spectra shown (described in Materials and Methods). Briefly, menadione (50 μ M) and ascorbic acid (1 mM) were mixed in EBSS pH 7.4, and transferred to a flat cell for recording EPR spectra. The reaction containing 25 mM NaHCO₃ (a) or 2 mM NaHCO₃ (b) both demonstrated detection of the characteristic doublet (g = 2) of the semidehydroascorbate radical, with the amount of the latter in (a) being greater than three-fold than in (b). Scans are representative of three separate experiments. EPR settings: modulation amplitude = 1 G, Sweep time = 84 s, microwave power = 20 mW. Intensity of the spectra were scaled to the more intense spectrum (a).



Figure 4.1.2 Kinetic UV-Vis spectrophotometry of ascorbic acid. All scans were recorded using a spectrophotometer set to read in kinetic mode at λ =260 nm as described in Materials and Methods. Reactions were carried out in EBSS containing either 0, 2, or 25 mM NaHCO₃, pH 7.4 at room temp and contained 15 µM ascorbic acid and 300 µM H₂O₂. In all reactions H₂O₂ was added last to initiate the reaction. The scans show the rate of oxidation of ascorbic acid by monitoring the ascorbic acid maximum in the presence of 0 mM NaHCO₃ (a), 2 mM NaHCO₃ (b), 25 mM NaHCO₃ (c) and 25 mM NaHCO₃ + 100 µM DTPA (d). Scans shown are representative three separate reactions (n=3).

4.2 Bicarbonate enhanced menadione cytotoxicity in Hepa 1c1c7 cells.

Dose-dependente cytotoxicity assessed by AlamarBlue of menadione on Hepa 1c1c7 cells is shown in Figure 4.2.1 In the presence of 25 mM bicarbonate, the cell viability was decreased by increasing the concentration of menadione. We selected to use 30 µM menadione to study the effect of bicarbonate on modulating menadione cytotoxicity. Figure 4.2.2 shows dosedependent effects of different concentrations of bicarbonate (1, 2, 5, 12.5 and 25 mM) with menadione on hepa1c1c7 cells. In the presence of menadione, the cell viability was decreased with increasing the concentration of bicarbonate. However, the bicarbonate itself did not demonstrate significant diferences in viability when used in this range. In order to confirm the results that resulted from utilizing AlamarBlue assay and to provide further evidence of the role of bicarbonate on menadione cytotoxicity, the cell viability was determined by utilizing ATP assay Figure 4.2.4. It has been reported that menadione per se depleted ATP through glycolysis inhibition. This is shown in figure 4.2.3.In both assays we found that the cytotoxicity of menadione was significant increase with 25 mM bicarbonate as compared with 2 mM bicarbonate concentrations, suggesting a role of bicarbonate in menadione cytotoxicity.



Figure 4.2.1 Effect of different concentrations of menadione and bicarbonate on murine hepatoma cells (Hepa 1c1c7) survival. The dosedependent cytotoxicity of menadione was determined by incubating different concentrations of menadione in Hepa 1c1c7 cells for 3 hours in EBSS buffer containing 25 mM bicarbonate. Cell viability was measured by utilizing the AlamarBlue assay. Data were shown as the mean \pm SD (n=6). * p < 0.05; ** p < 0.001 vs. vehicle.



Figure 4.2.2 Effect of different concentrations of bicarbonate and fixed concentration of menadione on murine hepatoma cells (Hepa 1c1c7) survival. The effect of NaHCO₃ on the cytotoxicity of menadione was determined by using a fixed concentration of menadione with variable concentrations of NaHCO₃. Cell viability was measured by utilizing the AlamarBlue assay. Data were shown as the mean \pm SD (n=6). * p < 0.001 for 30 μ M menadione + 25 mM NaHCO₃ vs. 30 μ M menadione + 2 mM NaHCO₃.



Figure 4.2.3 Schematic Effect of menadione on ATP. Enzymatically or nonenzymatically, redox cycling of menadione is known to generate superoxide that dismutates into H_2O_2 . The latter can directly or indirectly inhibit glycolysis and also via affecting MPT pore that subsequently resulted in depletion of ATP [87].



<u>Figure 4.2.4</u> Effect of different concentrations of bicarbonate and fixed concentration of menadione on murine hepatoma cells (Hepa 1c1c7) survival.

The effect of NaHCO3 on the cytotoxicity of menadione was determined by using a fixed concentration of menadione with variable concentrations of NaHCO₃. Cell viability was measured by utilizing the ATP assay. Data were shown as the mean \pm SD (n=3). * p < 0.05 for 30 μ M menadione + 25 mM NaHCO₃ vs. 30 μ M menadione + 2 mM NaHCO₃.

4.3 Effect of SOD peroxidase activity on menadione cytotoxicity.

We demonstrated that bicarbonate enhanced menadione/ascorbate redox cycle through forming carbonate radical that was generated by hydroxyl radical oxidation of bicarbonate. This suggested that hydrogen peroxide, a product of menadione redox cycling, reacted with metal ions to generate hydroxyl radical. On the other hand, we showed that bicarbonate increased the cytotoxicity of menadione. To correlate these pathways, we utilized DDC, an SOD inhibitor. The effect of different concentrations of DDC on menadione cytotoxicity is shown in Figure 4.3.1. In DMEM (without FBS), Hepa 1c1c7 cells were incubated with different concentration of DDC for 60 min at 37 C. After washing the cells (twice), the medium was replaced with EBSS buffer containing 25 mM bicarbonate and 30 µM menadione. The cytotoxicity of menadione was significantly attenuated by increasing concentrations of DDC, suggesting that SOD peroxidase activity could play a role in menadione cytotoxicity. Even at 1 µM DDC, significant attenuation of menadione cytotoxicity was observed. To confirm our finding, we utilized TEPA, a chelating agente. The effect of TEPA on menadione cytotoxicity was shown in figure 4.3.2.



Figure 4.3.1 Effect of DDC on menadione cytotoxicity. Murine hepatoma (Hepa 1c1c7) cells were incubated in DMEM media with different concentration of the SOD inhibitor DDC for one hour. Cells were incubated for 3 hours in EBSS buffer containing 25 mM bicarbonate and 30 μ M menadione. The cytotoxicity was measured by utilizing alamarBlue assay. Data were shown as the mean ± SD (n=6). * p < 0.005 vs 1 μ M DDC + 30 μ M menadione; ** p < 0.001 vs. 10 μ M DDC + 30 μ M menadione.



Figure 4.3.2 Effect of TEPA on menadione cytotoxicity. Murine hepatoma (Hepa 1c1c7) cells were incubated in DMEM media with 100 μ M of the SOD inhibitor TEPA for one hour. Cells were incubated for 3 hours in EBSS buffer containing 25 mM bicarbonate and 30 μ M menadione. The cytotoxicity was measured by utilizing alamarBlue assay. Data were shown as the mean ± SD (n=6). * p < 0.05 vs 100 μ M TEPA + 30 μ M menadione.

4.4 Bicarbonate enhanced menadione-induced ROS formation-DCFH oxidation.

After incubation the Hepa 1c1c7 cells with EBSS buffer contains different concentrations of bicarbonate (2 and 25 mM) and different concentrations of menadione, the effect of bicarbonate on oxidation of DCFH is shown in Figure 3.4. DCFH, a non specfic probe that reacts with many oxidants including carbonate radical, produced DCF which was monitored fluorescently. Interestingly, the oxidation of DCFH was significantly increased with 25 mM bicarbonate as compared with 2 mM bicarbonte, suggesting that the bicarbonate enhanced menadione-induced oxidative stress.



Figure 4.4 Effect of bicarbonate on menadione–induced DCFH oxidation. Murine hepatoma (Hepa 1c1c7) cells were incubated in EBSS buffer containing 2 mM (open circles) or 25 mM (filled circles) bicarbonate with different concentration of menadione and 10 μ M DCFH-DA. DCF fluorescence, and indicator of ROS formation, was measured on a fluorescent plate reader at an excitation wavelength 485 nm and emission wavelength of 520 nm. Data were shown as the mean ± SD (n=8). * p < 0.001 as compared with 2 mM bicarbonate at the corresponding menadione concentration.

4.5 Bicarbonate enhanced protein carbonylation.

The effect of different concentrations of bicarbonate on BSA carbonylation is shown in Figure 4.5. In the presence of SOD, protein carbonyl detection was increased with 25 mM bicarbonate as compared with 2 mM bicarbonate. In the absence of SOD, BSA carbonylation was decreased even though BSA was incubated with 25 mM bicarbonate. Taken together, SOD and bicarbonate enhanced menadione-induced oxidative stress as evidenced by protein carbonylation as a marker of oxidative damage.

	-			
80 µM BSA	+	+	+	positive control
16 µM SOD	(=)	+	+	
50 µM Menadione 1 mM Ascorbic acid	+	+	+	
25 mM NaHCO_3	+	+	-	
2 mM NaHCO_3	-		+	

Figure 4.5 Effect of menadione, NaHCO3, and SOD on protein carbonyl formation. Protein carbonyls were determined by using the anti-DNP Western blot assay. The positive control (lane 4) was carried out as per the manufacturer's protocol to generate high yield of BSA-carbonyls through metal catalyzed oxidation. All samples were derivatized with DNPH in order to generate the antigen. In the presence of 25 mM bicarbonate, menadione (50 μ M), and ascorbic acid (1 mM), BSA-DNP was detected (lane 1); however, the detection was enhanced in the presence of SOD (lane 2) and the latter was attenuated when a lower concentration of NaHCO3 was used (lane 3). All the reactions carried out in EBSS buffer, pH 7.4 at room temp for 30 minutes.

Chapter 5 Discussion, Conclusion and Future studies

Discussion

To test our hypothesis, we investigated the effect of bicarbonate on menadione redox cycling, biochemically and biologically. The proposed effect of bicarbonate on menadione redox cycling is depicted in Figure 5.1. In the presence of reducing agents and quinones, the rate of oxygen consumption is known to be catalytically increased [59] and this effect was enhanced by increasing the one-electron reduction potential of quinone. The reduction potential of oxygen/superoxide anion radical $(0_2/0_2)$, menadione/semiquinone (SQ/SQ•) and semidehydroascorbyl radical/ ascorbate (ASC^{•-}/ASC) are -325 mV, -203 mV and 300 mV, respectively [60]. It has been suggested that when the reduction potential of quinones is between - 250 and + 50 mV that means that those quinones are able to oxidize ascorbate and subsequently generating a redox cycling and reactive oxygen species. It was fortunate that the halfwave-redox potential of menadione was lower than -250 mV, which was able to oxidize ascorbate. The reaction of ascorbic acid, an excellent antioxidant, with a wide spectrum of radicals leads to formation of ascorbyl radicals that easily dismutase to give ascorbate and dehydroascorbate. Namely, 02^{•-}, HO•, •NO₂, CO₃•-, SQ[•]-and PhO• are scavenged by GSH and ascorbate that subsequently generating GSH redox cycling and ascorbyl radicals, respectively [61-63]. Among these radicals, HO[•] that generated by the reaction of H_2O_2 with reduced transition metal ions [64], equation (1), such as copper (I) and iron (II), oxidizes bicarbonate, equation (2), and carbonate, equation (3), to generate CO₃•- [65,66].

$$H_2O_2 + Fe^{+2} \longrightarrow HO^- + Fe^{3+}$$
 (1) $k = 4 \times 10^2 M^{-1}S^{-1}$

HCO₃⁻ + HO⁻
$$\longrightarrow$$
 CO₃⁻ + H₂O (2) k= 8.5 x 10⁶ M⁻S⁻¹

$$CO_3^- + HO^-$$
 (3) $k = 3 \times 10^8 M^{-1}S^{-1}$

Furthermore, the reaction of CO_3^{\bullet} with itself, equation (4), by transferring oxygen anion results in generation of CO_2 [67]. H_2O_2 would directly react with CO_2 , equation (5), to generate peroxymonocarbonate (HCO_4^{-}) that can be also generated by reaction HO with $CO_3^{\bullet-}$ equation (6), [68].

$$CO_3^{-1} + CO_3^{-1} \longrightarrow CO_2 + CO_4^{-2}$$
 (4) $k = 1.5 \times 10^7 \,\text{M}^{-1}\text{S}^{-1}$

$$CO_{2(d)} + H_2O_2 \longrightarrow HCO_4^- + H^+$$
 (5) $k = \sim 10^{-2} M^{-1}S^{-1}$

$$CO_3^{-1} + HO^{-1} \longrightarrow HCO_4^{-1} + HO^{-1}$$
 (6) $k = 6 \times 10^9 \text{ M}^{-1}\text{S}^{-1}$

Moreover, it has been reported that peroxymonocarbonate, an ionic peracid, is a potent oxidant in aqueous solution [69]; in the presence of transition metal ions or enzyme-metal centers, it reduces to generate $CO_3^{\bullet-}$ [70]. Although the formation of peroxymonocarbonate by reaction of H_2O_2 with HCO_3^- or CO_2 is slow process, the presence of proteins, lipids and mimetics of carbonic anhydrase might enhance the formation of peroxymonocarbonate via gaseous carbon dioxide/ dissolved carbon dioxide/ bicarbonate, equation(7) [71-73].

$$\operatorname{CO}_{2(g)}$$
 \longrightarrow $\operatorname{CO}_{2(d)}$ $+$ H_2O \longrightarrow H_2CO_3 \longrightarrow $\operatorname{HCO}_3^ +$ H^+ (7)

In biochemical assays, we non-enzymatically monitored O_2 and ascorbic acid in order to reveal the effect of bicarbonate on menadione redox cycling. During menadione redox cycling that is initiated by the presence of ascorbic acid, the quinone moiety of menadione is reduced to semiguinone radicals which subsequently reduces O_2 to generate O_2^{\bullet} and H_2O_2 [74-76]. Interestingly, we demonstrated that there was a significantly increase in the initial rate of oxygen consumption with 25 mM as compared with 2 mM NaHCO₃ (Figure 4.1). We propose that NaHCO₃ enhanced menadione redox cycling through formation of oxidative stress such as CO₃. For instance, H_2O_2 , a product of menadione redox cycling, reacted with EBSS buffer metal ions to form HO[•] via Fenton reaction (Eq. 1). Reaction HO[•] with HCO_3^- (Eq. 2) led to generate $CO_3^{\bullet-}$ a strong oxidizing agent. Generation of this radicals resulted in oxidation of ascorbic acid, to form semidehydroascorbyl radical, which was simultaneously dismutated to ascorbate and dehydroascorbate. Nevertheless, increased bicarbonate concentration resulted in ascorbate regeneration by formation of $CO_3^{\bullet-}$ that oxidize ascorbate to ascorbyl radicals. The latter dimutated rapidly to ascorbate which increased the redox cycling of menadione via reduction of menadione to semiquinone and consequently increased the consumption of O_2 .

To further evaluate the effect of bicarbonate on menadione redox, we performed further studies by utilizing EPR spectrophotometry to monitor semidehydroascorbyl radical. We found that physiological bicarbonate concentrations appeared to increase the intensity of the semidehydroascorbyl radical compared to low bicarbonate concentrations (Figure 4.1.1). We speculate that presence of H_2O_2 that generated from menadione redox cycle and EBSS buffer trace metal ions could generate HO• that subsequently reacted with bicarbonate to form $CO_3^{\bullet-}$ k= 1.1 x 10⁹ M⁻¹S⁻¹. Thus, generation of the latter radicals can enhance semidehydroascorbyl intensity. In order to further evaluate the effect of bicarbonate on the intensity of semidehydroascorbyl radical via involved metal ions and H_2O_2 that generated by menadione/ascorbate redox cycle, we curried out further studies by using UV-Vis spectrophotometry. We directly added H₂O₂ instead of that generated by menadione redox cycle to exclude the effect of semiquinone and superoxide anion radicals, a products of menadione redox cycle, on ascorbic acid oxidation. We demonstrated that the rate of ascorbic acid oxidation was increased by physiological NaHCO₃; however, this effect was abrogated by addition of DTPA, a metal chelator (Figure 4.1.2). We propose that H_2O_2 that generated by menadione/ascorbate redox cycle reacted with EBSS buffer metal ions to generate HO[•]; although the latter can oxidize ascorbate itself (i.e., see 0 mM NaHCO₃), it also appeared to react with NaHCO₃ to generate $CO_3^{\bullet-}$ (Eq. 2).

Taken together, the presence of H_2O_2 menadione/ascorbate redox cycling and the presence of trace metals, resulted in HO[•] formation. The formation of HO• in the presence of NaHCO₃ led us to speculate that ascorbic acid was likely being oxidized by $CO_3^{\bullet-}$. The presence of $CO_3^{\bullet-}$ can account for the increase in the formation of semidehydroascorbyl radical (Figure 4.1.1) that dismutated to ascorbate. The reformed ascorbate led to continual reduction of menadione and consequently increased the reduction of O_2 by menadione semiquinone radical. Alternatively, we cannot exclude the possible effect of peroxymonocarbonate (HCO₄-), another strong oxidant, which results from the reaction of $CO_3^{\bullet-}$ with HO[•] (Eq. 6) and the equilibrium of H_2O_2 with CO_2 (d) (Eq. 5), or HCO_3^- , on enhancement the menadione/ascorbate redox cycle. It was suggested that presence of transition metal ions or enzyme metal centers resulted in generation CO₃.via reduction of peroxymonocarbonate that also decomposes and subsequently generate 10_{2} (singlet oxygen) [77]. Thus, peroxymonocarbonate may catalyze the oxidation 2-methyl-1,4-hydrquinone (menadiol) to 2-methyl-1,4-benzoquinone (menadione), although this was not investigated. We showed that there was an increase in the initial rate of O_2 consumption by increasing the concentration of bicarbonate. Therefore, we speculate that the rate of O_2 consumption was increased by increasing NaHCO₃ concentration through generating of oxidative stress, which assumed is CO₃•-.

In order to investigate the biological relevance of the effect of NaHCO₃ on menadione redox cycling, we utilized murine hepatoma (Hepa 1c1c7) cells line as a model. In caner cells, intracellular pH (pH_i) is neutral-alkaline; however, the extracellular pH (pH_e) is acidic [78]. Higher proliferative and glycolytic rate resulted in generation of metabolic acids. H⁺ extrusion by increasing the activity of H⁺-ATPases, Na⁺-H⁺exchanger and the monocarboxylate- H^+ led to elevate the pH_i and to decrease the pH_e [79]. Loading of HCO_3 with the presence of carbonic anhydrase resulted in formation of CO₂. The latter is easily diffused inside the cells and converted by carbonic anhydrase to HCO_3^{-} . Furthermore, it has been reported that CO₃ produced from the reaction of H₂O₂, HCO₃⁻ and SOD [80]. However, there is an argument about the substrate for SOD peroxidase activity, either a bicarbonate or carbon dioxide [81]. In presence of 25 mM NaHCO₃, a physiological concentration in mammalian tissues, we found that there was a dose dependent effect of menadione on Hepa 1c1c7 cells Figure 4.2.1.

To demonstrate the role of NaHCO₃, we utilized EBSS buffer with a fixed concentration of menadione with different concentration of NaHCO₃ Figure 4.2.2. We confirmed our findings in Figure 4.2.2 by determining the relative [ATP] as described in Materials and Methods (figure 4.2.4). Interestingly, menadione cytotoxicity was increased by increasing the concentration of NaHCO₃ via utilizing two end point assays. Taken together, we can speculate that H_2O_2 , a product of menadione redox cycling, with CO₂, a product of loading NaHCO₃, permeate into the cells and in the presence of carbonic

anhydrase, a metalloenzyme that facilitate hydrate/dehydrate CO₂, bicarbonate would be formed to regulate pH_i. Consequently, the presence of bicarbonate with SOD- Cu(I), a reduction product by H₂O₂, would have resulted in formation of oxidative stress, including the carbonate radical. Although there are various studies that demonstrated different mechanisms of menadione cytotoxicity, herein we showed that in Hepa 1c1c7 cells and presence of copper bound oxidant (SOD-Cu(I)), bicarbonate enhanced menadione cytotoxicity by formation of oxidative stress. A previous study using millimolar concentrations of menadione (3 orders of magnitude greater than used in this study) showed that 50 mM (not 25 mM) bicarbonate inclusion in the buffer decreased the viability of yeast cells compared to phosphate [82]. The in activation of aconitase followed a similar trend, however, protein carbonyls were not altered and 50 mM (not 25 mM) bicarbonate was required to produce a decrease in total GSH.

In order to pinpoint the role of Cu, Zn -SOD in menadione cytotoxicity, we used DDC , which chelates the copper of the SOD active site [83]. We found that the menadione cytotoxicity significantly attenuated by DDC Figure 4.3.1. We can speculate that using DDC resulted in attenuation the formation of oxidative stress by preventing the SOD redox cycling via removing essential copper from this enzyme and consequently decreased menadione cytotoxicity. However, DDC, a non specific copper chelating agent, might chelate another cuproenzymes such as cytochrome c [84]. Although the menadione cytotoxicity was also decreased by utilizing another copper chelating agent, TEPA (figure 4.3.2), it is worthwhile to perform further investigation by utilizing SOD knock out mice in order to notably reveal the effect of SOD on menadione cytotoxicity. Interestingly, it has been reported that menadione increased the activity of SOD. If the activity of SOD was also increased in hepa 1c1c7 cells, it could explain the enhanced cytotoxicity that was inhibited by DDC [82].

We utilized DCFH to broadly detect the role of bicarbonate in menadione cytotoxicity via formation of oxidative stress. DCFH is converted to a fluorescent probe (DCF) in the presence of oxidative stress. An important point to stress is that DCF is easily oxidized by several one-electron-oxidizing species, cytochrome c and H_2O_2 in the presence of metal ion and is by no means a specific indicator, but rather a general indicator of oxidative phenomena that are occuring [85]. We showed that DCF fluorescence, a non specific measurement probe, was increased by increasing [NaHCO₃] Figure 4.4. We assume that increasing the concentration of NaHCO₃ led to enhancement of CO₂ diffusion into the cell and consequently increased the generation of oxidative stress, a product of reaction bicarbonate with a strong bound oxidant of SOD. Therefore, the fluorescence probe increased by increasing the generation of oxidative stress.

In order to confirm the role of bicarbonate in generation of oxidative stress, we monitored the carbonylation of protein, a marker for detecting oxidative stress, with utilizing anti-DNP. Interestingly, we found that carbonyl-containing BSA increased by increasing the concentration of bicarbonate; however, the carbonyl formation was attenuated with absence of SOD Figure 4.5. We presume that reduction of SOD by H_2O_2 , a product of menadione redox cycling, resulted in formation of a strong bound oxidant of SOD that reacted with bicarbonate to form oxidative stress, which assumed is carbonate radical. Thus, increasing carbonyl-containing BSA was resulted from generating carbonate radical. Our finding are consistent with the previous study that investigated low density lipoprotein damage by iron, ascorbate , and H_2O_2 such that bicarbonate was shown to enhance protein carbonyls and lipid peroxidation compared to phosphate ions [86].

Conclusion

The effect of bicarbonate on menadione cytotoxicity was demonstrated to occur by two different mechanisms as shown in figure 5.1. Both mechanisms were carried out via intermediating bicarbonate. The first mechanism involved non-enzymatic modulation of the redox cycle, which involved free metals, leading to the generation of oxidative stress. The second mechanism is mainly relevant to cells, which appears to involve SOD peroxidase activity, resulting in the generation of oxidative stress, and potentially carbonate radicals. Future studies should be carried out to determine the relative contribution to cytotoxicity of the non-enzymatic pathway compared to the superoxide dismutase peroxidase pathway.



Figure 5.1 Proposed mechanisms of carbonate radical formation and cytotoxicity from menadione redox cycling. Redox cycling is known to generate superoxide that dismutates into H_2O_2 . The latter can interact with bicarbonate (HCO_3^-) and generate peroxymonocarbonate (HCO_4^-), or undergo Fenton reactions with trace metals to produce hydroxyl radical (HO^{\bullet}). $O_2^{\bullet-}$, SQ $^{\bullet}$ and HO $^{\bullet}$ can oxidize ASC to ASC $^{\bullet-}$. HO $^{\bullet}$ can also oxidize HCO_3^- directly to produce the carbonate radical ($CO_3^{\bullet-}$) or superoxide dismutase can react with H_2O_2 (more likely HCO_4^-) to also produce $CO_3^{\bullet-}$. We propose that bicarbonate is involved in contributing to the overall cytotoxicity observed due to menadione.

Future studies

In order to reveal the role of carbonic anhydrase in menadione cytotoxicity via hydrating/dehydrating carbon dioxide equation (7), we used acetazolamide, a potent inhibitor for these enzymes, to block the formation of bicarbonate. Interestingly, we found that menadione cytotoxicity was significantly attenuated by acetazolamide (100 uM). The effect of acetazolamide on menadione cytotoxicity is shown in Figure 5.2. However, it is worthwhile to utilize carbonic anhydrase knockout mice, as well as and superoxide dismutase knockout mice to confirm our findings using chemical inhibitors. Furthermore, it is also worthwhile to measure the O₂ uptake in isolated hepatocytes as well as hepatoma cells line to demonstrate the effect of bicarbonate on menadione redox cycling in different viable biological systems. Taken together, these experiments could determine the relative contribution to cytotoxicity of the non-enzymatic pathway compared to the metalloenzyes pathway, namely superoxide dismutase and carbonic anhydrase.

It has been demonstrated that menadione enhanced ATP depletion (figure 4.2.3), thus, monitoring the cell signals such as P-ERK, P-p38 and PARP is more useful to confirm the effect of bicarbonate on menadione cytotoxicity through generating oxidative stress, carbonate radical by utilizing both normal hepatocytes and hepatoma cells (figure 5.3).
Although there is a challenge to detect carbonate radicals and peroxymonocarbonate in vivo as it is intricate to find a specific spin traps for carbonate and hydroxyl radicals, monitoring different end points, such as tryptophan oxidation, tyrosin oxidation and using spin trapping such as DMPO would indirectly elicit the effect of carbonate radical or hydroxyl radical on menadione cytotoxicity.

Based on the presence of bicarbonate/carbon dioxide a physiological buffer, menadione can be used as a standard because of its ability to undergo redox cycling and arylation. Nevertheless, it is useful to compare the cytotoxicity of quinone redox cycling, such as doxorubicin and 2,6-dimethoxy quinone to alkylating quinones, benzoquinone, tetrachlorobenzoquine, for example, by doing different end points. Because of doxorubicin has half-cell reduction potential lower than -250 mV, which is able to generate reactive oxygen species, and the presence of CuZn-superoxide dismutase in intermembrane of mitochondria, we can envision the role of CuZnsuperoxide dismutase in doxorubicin cardiotoxicity. It is worth if we demonstrate that bicarbonate potentiate the quinone (doxorubicin)/ascorbate redox cycle through generating oxidative stress, carbonate radical since tumor cells are preferential uptake of ascorbic acid (vitamin C).



Figure 5.2 Effect of acetazolamide on menadione cytotoxicity. Murine hepatoma (Hepa 1c1c7) cells were incubated in DMEM media with different concentration of the CA inhibitor acetazolamide for one hour. Cells were incubated for 3 hours in EBSS buffer containing 25 mM bicarbonate and 30 μ M menadione. The cytotoxicity was measured by utilizing alamarBlue assay. Data were shown as the mean ± SD (n=6). * p < 0.005 vs 100 μ M acetazolamide + 30 μ M menadione.



Figure 5.3 Schematic effect of carbonate radical formation on cell signals during ATP depletion.

References

1. Bolton JL, Trush MA, Penning TM, Dryhurst G, Monks TJ. Role of quinones in toxicology. *Chem Res Toxicol.* **2000**;13(3):135-160.

2. O'Brien PJ. Molecular mechanisms of quinone cytotoxicity. *Chem Biol Interact.* **1991**;80(1):1-41.

3. Murakami K, Haneda M, Iwata S, Yoshino M. Effect of hydroxy substituent on the prooxidant action of naphthoquinone compounds. *Toxicol Vitro*. **2010**;24(3):905-909.

4. Zahid M, Saeed M, Rogan EG, Cavalieri EL. Benzene and dopamine catechol quinones could initiate cancer or neurogenic disease. *Free Radic Biol Med*. **2010**;48(2):318-324.

5. Cavalieri E, Rogan E, eds. *Catechol quinones of estrogens in the initiation of breast,* prostate, and other human cancers: Keynote lecture. ; **2006**. Bradlow H.L. and Carruba G., eds. ; No. 1089.

 Cavalieri EL, Rogan EG. Unbalanced metabolism of endogenous estrogens in the etiology and prevention of human cancer. *J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol.* **2011**;125(3-5):169-180.

- 7- Metodiewa, D.; Jaiswal, A.K.; Cenas, N.; Dickancaité, E.; Segura-Aguilar, J. Free Radic. Biol. Med. 1999, 26(1–2), 107-116.
- Bironaite, D.A.; Čenas, N.K.; Kulys, J.J. Biochim. Biophys. Acta, Bioenerg. 1991, 1060(2), 203-209.
- Powis, G.; Svingen, B.A.; Appel, P. Adv. Exp. Med. Biol. 1981, 136 Pt A, 349-358.
- 10- Talalay, P.; Benson, A.M. Adv. Enzyme Regul. **1982**, 20(0), 287-300.

11- Y. Song, G.R. Buettner. Thermodynamic and kinetic considerations for the reaction of semiquinone radicals to form superoxide and hydrogen peroxide, Free Radic. Biol. Med. **2010**, 49 :919–962.

12- Roginsky, V.A., Barsukova, T.K., Bruchelt, G. and Stegmann, H.B. Kinetics of redox interaction between substituted 1,4-benzoquinones and ascorbate under aerobic conditions: Critical phenomena. Free Radical Res. **1998**, 29 (2):115-125.

13- Roginsky VA, Barsukova TK, Stegmann HB. Kinetics of redox interaction between substituted quinones and ascorbate under aerobic conditions. Chem Biol Interact. **1999**, 121 :177–197.

14- Adams J, Pepping J. Vitamin K in the treatment and prevention of

osteoporosis and arterial calcification. Am J Health Syst Pharm. **2005**, 62 :1574-1581.

15- Vermeer, C., Jie, K., & Knapen, M. Role of vitamin K in bone metabolism. Annual review of nutrition. *1995*, *15(1)*, 1-21.

16- Vermeer, C., & Schurgers, L A comprehensive review of vitamin K and vitamin K antagonists. Hematology/Oncology Clinics of North America. **2000**, *14(2)*, 339-353.

17- Blakeborough MH, Owen RW, Bilton RF. Free radical generating mechanisms in the colon: their role in the induction and promotion of colorectal cancer? Free Radic Res Commun. **1989**, 6 : 359–67.

18- Verrax, J., Delvaux, M., Beghein, N., Taper, H., Gallez, B., and Calderon, P. Enhancement of quinone redox cycling by ascorbate induces a caspase-3 independent cell death in human leukaemia cells. An in vitro comparative study. Free Radical Research. **2005**, 39(6): 649-657.

19- Mauzeroll, J., Bard, A. J., Owhadian, O., & Monks, T. J. Menadione metabolism to thiodione in hepatoblastorna by scanning electrochemical microscopy. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. **2004**, 101 :17582–17587.

20- Ross D, Thor H, Orrenius S, Moldeus P. Interaction of menadione (2methyl-1,4-naphthoquinone) with glutathione. Chem Biol Interact. **1985**, 55 :177–184.

21- Thor, H., Smith, M.T., and Hartzell, P. The metabolism of menadione (2methyl-1,4- naphthoquinone) by isolated hepatocytes. A study of the implications of oxidative stress in intact cells. J. Biol. Chem. **1982**, 257(20): 12419-12425.

22- Ross, D., Thor, H., Threadgill, M.D., Sandy, M.S., Smith, M.T., Moldeus, P., and Orrenius, S. The role of oxidative processes in the cytotoxicity of substituted 1,4-naphthoquinones in isolated hepatocytes. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. **1986**, 248(2): 460-466.

23- Rossi, L., Moore, G.A., Orrenius, S., O'Brien, P.J. Quinone toxicity in hepatocytes without oxidative stress Arch. Biochem. Biophys. **1986**, 251 (1):25-35.

24- Bellomo, G.; Jewell, S. A.; Orrenius, S. The metabolism of menadione impairs the ability of rat liver mitochondria to take up and retain calcium. J. Biol. Chem. **1982**, 257:11558–11562.

25- Hockenbery, D.M., Oltvai, Z.N., Yin, X.-., Milliman, C.L., and Korsmeyer, S.J. Bcl-2 functions in an antioxidant pathway to prevent apoptosis. Cell. **1993**, 26- Eide, L., Bjørås, M., Pirovano, M., Alseth, I., Berdal, K.G., and Seeberg, E. Base excision of oxidative purine and pyrimidine DNA damage in Saccharomyces cerevisiae by a DNA glycosylase with sequence similarity to endonuclease III from Escherichia coli. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. **1996**, 93(20): 10735-10740.

27- Tamarit, J., Cabiscol, E., and Ros, J. Identification of the major oxidatively damaged proteins in Escherichia coli cells exposed to oxidative stress. J. Biol. Chem. **1998**, 273(5): 3027-3032.

28- Swanson, R.L., Morey, N.J., Doetsch, P.W., and Jinks-Robertson, S. Overlapping specificities of base excision repair, nucleotide excision repair, recombination, and translesion synthesis pathways for DNA base damage in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Mol. Cell. Biol. **1999**, 19(4): 2929-2935.

29- Lasalvia-Prisco, E., Cucchi, S., Vázquez, J., Lasalvia-Galante, E., Golomar, W., and Gordon, W. Serum markers variation consistent with autoschizis induced by ascorbic acid-menadione in patients with prostate cancer. Medical Oncology. **2003**, 20(1): 45-52.

30- Caricchio, R., Kovalenko, D., Kaufmann, W.K., and Cohen, P.L. Apoptosis provoked by the oxidative stress inducer menadione (vitamin K3) is mediated by the Fas/Fas ligand system. Clinical Immunology. **1999**, 93(1): 65-74.

31- May JM, Cobb CE, Mendiratta S, Hill KE, Burk RF. Reduction of the ascorbyl free radical to ascorbate by thioredoxin reduc- tase. J Biol Chem. **1998**, 273(36):23039–23045.

32- Du, J., Martin, S.M., Levine, M., Wagner, B.A., Buettner, G.R., Wang, S.-H., Taghiyev, A.F, Cullen, J.J. Mechanisms of ascorbate-induced cytotoxicity in pancreatic cancer Clinical Cancer Research. **2010**, 16 (2), pp. 509-520.

33- Verrax, J.; Pedrosa, R. C.; Beck, R.; Dejeans, N.; Taper, H.; Calderon, P. B. In situ modulation of oxidative stress: a novel and efficient strategy to kill cancer cells. Curr. Med. Chem. **2009**, 16:1821–1830.

34- Verrax, J., Cadrobbi, J., Marques, C., Taper, H., Habraken, Y., Piette, J., and Calderon, P.B. Ascorbate potentiates the cytotoxicity of menadione leading to an oxidative stress that kills cancer cells by a non-apoptotic caspase-3 independent form of cell death. Apoptosis. **2004**, 9(2): 223- 233.

35- Venugopal, M., Jamison, J.M., Gilloteaux, J., Koch, J.A., Summers, M., Hoke, J., Sowick, C., and Summers, J.L Synergistic antitumour activity of vitamins C and K 3 against human prostate carcinoma cell lines. Cell Biol. Int. **1996**, 20(12): 787-797.

36- Stridh, H., Kimland, M., Jones, D.P., Orrenius, S., and Hampton, M.B. Cytochrome c release and caspase activation in hydrogen peroxide- and tributyltin-induced apoptosis. FEBS Lett. 1998, 429(3): 351-355.

37- Matsura, T., Kai, M., Fujii, Y., Ito, H., and Yamada, K. Hydrogen peroxideinduced apoptosis in HL-60 cells requires caspase-3 activation. Free Radic. Res. **1999**, 30(1): 73-83.

38- McCord, J.M. and Fridovich, I. The biology and pathology of oxygen radicals. Ann. Intern. Med. **1978**, 89(1): 122-127.

39- Hoffman, EK. and Simonsen, LD. Membrane mechanisms in volume and pH regulation in vertebrate cells. Physiol. Rev. **1989**, 69:315-382.

40- Hodgson, E. K.; Fridovich, I. The mechanism of the activity-dependent luminescence of xanthine oxidase. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. **1976**, 172, 202-205.

41- Goss, S. P.; Singh, R. J.; Kalyanaraman, B. Bicarbonate Enhances the Peroxidase Activity of Cu,Zn-Superoxide Dismutase ROLE OF CARBONATE ANION RADICAL J. Biol. Chem. **1999**, 274, 28233-28239.

42- Kalyanaraman, B.; Joseph, J.; Zhang, H. Bicarbonate enhances nitration and oxidation reactions in biological systems--role of reactive oxygen and nitrogen species Adv. Exp. Med. Biol. **2001**, 500, 175-182.

43- Sankarapandi, S. and Zweier, J.L. Bicarbonate is required for the peroxidase function of Cu, Zn-superoxide dismutase at physiological pH. J. Biol. Chem. **1999**, 274(3): 1226-1232.

44- Zhang, H., Joseph, J., Felix, C., and Kalyanaraman, B. Bicarbonate enhances the hydroxylation, nitration, and peroxidation reactions catalyzed by copper, zinc superoxide dismutase. Intermediacy of carbonate anion radical. J. Biol. Chem. **2000**, 275(19): 14038-14045.

45- Zhang, H.; Joseph, J.; Gurney, M.; Becker, D.; Kalyanaraman, B. Bicarbonate enhances peroxidase activity of Cu,Zn-superoxide dismutase. Role of carbonate anion radical and scavenging of carbonate anion radical by metalloporphyrin antioxidant enzyme mimetics. J. Biol. Chem. **2002**, 277, 1013-1020.

46- Liochev, S. I.; Fridovich, I. Bicarbonate-enhanced peroxidase activity of Cu,Zn SOD: is the distal oxidant bound or diffusible? Arch. Biochem. Biophys.
2004, 421, 255-259.

47- Wiedau-Pazos, M.; Goto, J. J.; Rabizadeh, S.; Gralla, E. B.; Roe, J. A.; Lee, M. K.; Valentine, J. S.; Bredesen, D. E. Altered reactivity of superoxide dismutase in familial amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Science. **1996**, 271, 515-518.

48- Augusto, O., Bonini, M.G., Amanso, A.M., Linares, E., Santos, C.C., and De Menezes, S.L. Nitrogen dioxide and carbonate radical anion: two emerging radicals in biology. Free Radic. Biol. Med. **2002**, 32(9): 841-859.

49- Buettner, G. R. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. The pecking order of free radicals

and antioxidants: lipid peroxidation, alpha-tocopherol, and ascorbate. **1993**, 300, 535-543.

50- Chandran, K., McCracken, J., Peterson, F.C., Antholine, W.E., Volkman, B.F., and Kalyanaraman, B. Oxidation of histidine residues in copper-zinc superoxide dismutase by bicarbonate-stimulated peroxidase and thiol oxidase activities: Pulse EPR and NMR studies. Biochemistry (N. Y.) **2010**, 49(50): 10616-10622.

51- Medinas, D.B., Gozzo, F.C., Santos, L.F.A., Iglesias, A.H., and Augusto, O. A ditryptophan cross-link is responsible for the covalent dimerization of human superoxide dismutase 1 during its bicarbonate-dependent peroxidase activity. Free Radical Biology and Medicine. **2010**, 49(6): 1046-1053.

52- Zhang, H., Andrekopoulos, C., Joseph, J., Chandran, K., Karoui, H., Crow, J.P., and Kalyanaraman, B. Bicarbonate-dependent peroxidase activity of human Cu,Z superoxidedismutase induces covalent aggregation of protein. Intermediacy of tryptophan-derived oxidation products. J. Biol. Chem. **2003**, 278(26): 24078-24089.

53- Zhang, H., Andrekopoulos, C., Joseph, J., Crow, J., and Kalyanaraman, B. The carbonate radical anion-induced covalent aggregation of human copper, zinc superoxide dismutase, and α - synuclein: Intermediacy of tryptophanand tyrosine-derived oxidation products. Free Radical Biology and Medicine. 54- Yim M. B., Chock P. B., Stadtman E. R. Copper, zinc superoxide dismutase catalyzes hydroxyl radical production from hydrogen peroxide Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. **1990**, 87:5006–5010.

55- Fridovich,I. .Superoxidedismutases.Annu.Rev. Biochem. 1975, 44:147-159

56- Bonini, M.G., Gabel, S.A., Ranguelova, K., Stadler, K., DeRose, E.F., London, R.E., and Mason, R.P. Direct magnetic resonance evidence for peroxymonocarbonate involvement in the Cu,Zn-superoxide dismutase peroxidase catalytic cycle. J. Biol. Chem. **2009**, 284(21): 14618-14627.

57- Liochev, S.I. and Fridovich, I. Mechanism of the peroxidase activity of Cu, Zn superoxide dismutase. Free Radic. Biol. Med. **2010**, 48(12): 1565-1569.

58- Lee G., Schlichter L., Bendayan M. and Bendayan R. Func- tional expression of P-glycoprotein in rat brain microglia. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. **2001b**, 299, 204–212.

59- Lusthof, K.J., Richter,W., de Mol, N.J., Janssen, L.H., Verboom, W., and Reinhoudt, D.N. Reductive activation of potential antitumor bis(aziridinyl)benzoquinones by xanthine oxidase: Competition between oxygen reduction and quinone reduction. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. **1990,** 277: 137-142.

60- Wardman, P. Reduction potentials of one-electron couples involving free radicals in aqueous solution. J. Phys. Chem. Ref. Data, Vol.18, No.4 **1989**.
61- Wardman, P. and von Sonntag, C. Kinetic factors that control the fate of thiyl radicals in cells. Methods Enzymol. **1995**, 251, 31-45.

62- Sturgeon, B.E. et al. The fate of the oxidizing tyrosyl radical in the presence of glutathione and ascorbate. Implications for the radical sink hypothesis. J.Biol.Chem. **1998**, 273,30116-30121.

63- Cuddihy, S.L., Parker, A., Harwood, D.T., Vissers, M.C. and Winterbourn, C.C. Ascorbate interacts with reduced glutathione to scavenge phenoxyl radicals in HL60 cells. Free Radic. Biol. Med. **2008**, 44, 1637-1644.

64- Stadman ER, Berlett BS. Fenton chemistry. Amino acid oxidation. J Biol Chem. **1991**, 266: 17201-17211

65- Halliwell, B.; Gutteridge, J. M. C., eds. Free radicals in biology and medicine. Oxford: Oxford University Press; **1998.**

66- Buxton, G. V.; Elliot, A. J. Rate constant for reaction of hydroxyl radical with bicarbonate ions. Radiate. Phys. Chem. **1986**, 27: 241-243.

67- Lilie, J.; Hanrahan, R. J.; Henglein, A. O⁻ transfer reactions of the carbonate

radical anion. Radiat. Phys. Chem. **1978**, 11: 225-227.

68- Haygarth KS, Marin TW, Janik I, Kanjana K, Stanisky CM, Bartels DM. Carbonate radical formation in radiolysis of sodium carbonate and bicarbonate solution up to 250 °C and the mechanism of its second order decay. J Phys Chem. **2010**, 114: 2142-2150.

69- Richardson, D. E., Yao, H.; Frank, K. M.; Bennett, D. A. Equilibria, kinetics, and mechanism in bicarbonate activation of hydrogen peroxide: oxidation of sulfides by peroxymonocarbonate. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **2000**, 122: 1729-1739.

70- Bonini, M. G., Miyamoto, S., Di Mascio, P., and Augusto, O. Production of the carbonate radical anion during xanthine oxidase turnover in the presence of bicarbonate. J. Biol. Chem. **2004**, 279, 51836 – 51843.

71- Richardson, D. E., Regino, C. A. S., Yao, H., and Johnson, J. V. Methionine oxidation by peroxymonocarbonate, a reactive oxygen specie formed from CO2/bicarbonate and hydrogen peroxide. Free Radic. Biol. Med. **2003**, 35, 1538 – 1550.

72- Bennett, D. A., Yao, H., and Richardson, D. E. Mechanism of sulfide oxidations by peroxymonocarbonate. Inorg. Chem. 40, 2996 – 3001. R ichardson, D. E., Regino, C. A. S., Yao, H., and Johnson, J V. (2003) Methionine oxidation by peroxymonocarbonate, a reactive oxygen specie formed from CO2/bicarbonate and hydrogen peroxide. Free Radic. Biol. Med. **2001**, 35, 1538 – 1550.

73- Trindade, D. F., Cerchiaro, G., and Augusto, O. A role for peroxymonocarbonate in the stimulation of biothiol peroxidation by the bicarbonate/carbon dioxide pair. Chem. Res. Toxicol. **2006**, 19, 1475 – 1482.

74- Verrax, J., Delvaux, M., Beghein, N., Taper, H., Gallez, B., and Calderon, P. Enhancement of quinone redox cycling by ascorbate induces a caspase-3 independent cell death in human leukaemia cells. An in vitro comparative study. Free Radical Research. **2005**, 39(6), 649-657.

75- Ross, D., Thor, H., Threadgill, M. D., Sandy, M. S., Smith, M. T., Moldeus, P. and Orrenius, S. The role of oxidative processes in the cytotoxicity of substituted 1,4-naphthoquinone in isolated hepatocytes. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. **1986**, 248: 460-466.

76- Starke, P.E. and Farber, J. L. Ferric iron and superoxide ions are required for killing of cultured hepatocytes by hydrogen peroxide. J. Biol. Chem. **1985**, 260, 10099-10104.

77- J.M. Lin, M.L. Liu. Singlet oxygen generated from the decomposition of peroxymonocarbonate and its observation with chemiluminescence method Spectrochim. Acta. **2009**, Part A 72 126–132.

78- McCoy CL, Parkins CS, Chaplin DJ, Griffith JR, Rodrigues LM and StubbsM. The effect of blood flow modification on ontra- and extracellular pH

measured by 31 P magnetic resonance spectroscopy in murine tumours. Br J Cancer. **1995**, 72(4): 905-911.

79- Martinez-Zaguilan, R., Lynch, R. M., Martinez, G. M. and Gillis, R.J. Vaculartype H⁺-ATPases are functionally expressed in plasma membranes of human tumor cells. Am. J. Physiol. **1993**, 265, C1015-C 1029.

80- Zhang, H.; Josef, J.; Felix, C.; Kalyanaraman, B. Bicarbonate enhances the hydroxylation, nitration, and peroxidation reactions catalyzed by copper, zinc superoxide dismutase. Intermediacy of carbonate anion radical. J. Biol. Chem. **2000**, 275:14038-14045.

81- Liochev, S. L.; Fridovish, I. Mechanism of the peroxidase activity of Cu, Zn superoxide dismutase. Free Radical Res. **2010**, 48:1565-1569.

82- Lushchak, O.V., Bayliak, M.M., Korobova, O.V., Levine, R.L., and Lushchak,
V.I. Buffer modulation of menadione-induced oxidative stress in
Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Redox Rep. 2009, 14(5): 214-220.

83- Lin, P.-., Kwock, L., Lui, P., and Hefter, K. Enhancement of oxygen toxicity by diethyldithiocarbamate on Chinese hamster and mouse cells. International Journal of Radiation Oncology Biology Physics. **1979**, 5(9): 1699-1703. 84- Mates, J.M.; Segura, J. A.; Alonso, F. J.; Matquez, J. Roles of dioxins and heavy metals in cancer and neurological diseases using ROS-mediated mechanisms. Free radical Res. **2010**, 48:1328-1341.

85- Kalyanaraman, B. et al. Measuring reactive oxygen and nitrogen species with fluorescent probes: challenges and limitations. Free Rarical Res. **2010**, FRB-1082

86- Arai, H., Berlett, B.S., Chock, P.B., and Stadtman, E.R. Effect of bicarbonate on iron-mediated oxidation of low-density lipoprotein. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.
U. S. A. 2005, 102(30): 10472- 10477.

87- Beck R, Verrax J, Dejeans N, Taper H, Buc Calderon P. Menadione reduction by pharmacological doses of ascorbate induces an oxidative stress that kills breast cancer cells. Int J Toxicol. **2009**, 28:33–42.

88. Robey IF, Baggett BK, Kirkpatrick ND, et al. Bicarbonate increases tumor pH and inhibits spontaneous metastases. Cancer Res. **2009**;69(6):2260-2268.